**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Richland County
Court of Common Pleas

Jean Hoefer Toal, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2022-CP-40-03834
Appellate Case No. 2023-001096

RECEIVED

Jan 16 2024

SC Court of Appeals

Donna B. Welch, individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of
Melvin G. Welch, deceased,

Respondent,

v.

Advance Auto Parts, Inc., American Honda Motor Co., Inc., Atlas Asbestos Co,
Atlas Turner, Inc. as successor to Atlas Asbestos Co, a foreign company, Bahnson,
Inc., Covil Corporation, Daniel International Corporation, Davis Mechanical
Contractors, Inc., Ellington Insulation Company, Inc., Fluor Constructors

INTRODUCTION

This appeal presents a straightforward question: Can a South Carolina circuit court establish a receivership over an active Canadian corporation that exists in the province of Quebec? Appellant, Atlas Turner, Inc. (“Atlas Turner”), is a Canadian corporation that previously manufactured products containing asbestos in Canada. (R. pp. 358-410, 461-500.) It stopped doing so in the mid-1980s. (R. pp. 358-410, 461-500.) Atlas Turner remains an active Canadian corporation. (R. pp. 358-410, 461-500.) It neither owns property nor does business in South Carolina. (R. pp. 687-689.) It has no judgments against it in South Carolina. It is not a debtor in South Carolina. In fact, none of the requirements for appointing a receiver under South Carolina’s receivership statute, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-65-10, are satisfied; therefore, the circuit court erred in appointing one. This is especially true considering that Atlas Turner has no assets in South Carolina—its assets are in Canada. Our circuit court has no authority to tell a Canadian corporation with no assets in this state that it must abide an American receiver’s commands. An American court would not accept the dictates of a Canadian receiver in relation to an American corporation with no assets in or judgments against it in Canada. The purported appointment of a receiver is erroneous and must be reversed, as should the circuit court’s abuse of discretion in holding Atlas Turner in contempt and striking its pleadings.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **Did the circuit court err in appointing a receiver?**
 - A. **Does the circuit court lack jurisdiction over property outside of South Carolina?**
 - B. **Is South Carolina’s receivership statute inapplicable to Atlas Turner?**
 - 1. **Is S.C. Code Ann. § 15-65-10(5) inapplicable to Atlas Turner?**
 - 2. **Is S.C. Code Ann. § 15-65-10(4) inapplicable to Atlas Turner?**

- II. **Did the circuit court err in holding Atlas Turner in contempt and striking its pleadings?¹**
 - A. **Did the circuit court abuse its discretion because it did not properly consider all the required factors?**
 - B. **Did the circuit court abuse its discretion because the sanction is unreasonable and too severe?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Atlas Turner is an active Canadian corporation headquartered in the province of Quebec. It has no connection or nexus to South Carolina.² (R. pp. 358-410, 461-500; R. pp. 687-689.) Respondent, Donna Welch, individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Melvin C. Welch, deceased (“Welch”), sued Atlas Turner and many other defendants for alleged exposure to asbestos. (R. pp. 27-357, 411-460.) On April 20, 2023, Welch served Atlas Turner with a first amended notice of a Rule 30(b)(6), SCRCPP, deposition that contained more than 100 detailed topics. Because Atlas Turner ceased its asbestos business in the mid-1980s, it has no employees

¹ To be clear, this issue and the corresponding argument below includes the threshold question of whether it was proper for the circuit court to find Atlas Turner in willful contempt in the first place, which, Atlas Turner maintains, it was not.

² This includes having no certificate (in place or rescinded) to do business in the state and no ownership of property or assets in this state.

who can testify on the deposition topics or who could be “taught” such a wide array of materials covering roughly half of a century. It also lacks the requested documents.

The 30(b)(6) topics are further complicated by the limitations and restrictions of the Quebec Business Concerns Records Act, CQLR c D-12 (the “QBCRA”).³ The QBCRA provides the following:

[N]o person shall, pursuant to any requirement issued by any . . . judicial . . . authority outside of Quebec, remove or cause to be removed, or send or cause to be sent, from any place in Quebec to any place outside Quebec, any document or resumé or digest of any document relating to any concern.

As such, Atlas Turner was unable to produce a 30(b)(6) deponent. Such action was not deliberate or an attempt to defy the circuit court. Simply put, you cannot produce what you do not have.⁴

On May 4, 2023, the circuit court held a status conference with Atlas Turner and Welch. Following the conference, the circuit court found Atlas Turner in contempt by order filed May 11, 2023, and invited Welch to identify “the requested sanction this Court should impose on Atlas and for [sic] any other relief requested.” (R. p. 2.)⁵ On June 20, 2023, the circuit court entered an

³ Atlas Turner has always been careful to raise the QBCRA to avoid any noncompliance or waiver arguments.

⁴ Atlas Turner is far from the first company unable to produce a 30(b)(6) witness based upon the passage of time and the overbreadth of the topics set forth in a 30(b)(6) notice. Whether the others who have found themselves caught between such a rock and a hard place have had their answers struck or have been left no choice but to settle for inflated value to avoid what Atlas Turner is now facing (a purported receivership), South Carolina has recently been recognized for its hostility to defendants in asbestos cases. *See Judicial Hellholes*, <https://www.judicialhellholes.org/hellhole/2022-2023/south-carolina-asbestos-litigation/> (last visited Oct. 4, 2023).

⁵ Previously, Atlas Turner had responded to this suit with a motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction, which the circuit court denied. Atlas Turner expressly reserves and does not waive its jurisdictional challenge, and nothing herein is intended to waive or otherwise undermine its denial of personal jurisdiction.

“Order Striking Atlas Turner’s Answer.”⁶ (R. pp. 7-10.) Such severe sanctions not being quite enough, the circuit court also granted Welch’s motion to appoint a receiver by order filed June 21, 2023. (R. p. 12.)

The circuit court reasoned that it had the authority to appoint a receiver over Atlas Turner’s “insurance assets” under S.C. Code Ann. § 38-61-10 because that statute states that “[a]ll contracts of insurance on property, lives, or interests in South Carolina are considered to be made in the [s]tate and . . . subject to the laws of this [s]tate.” (R. pp. 14.) The circuit court also concluded that because there was an entry of default (not a default judgment) against Atlas Turner, obtaining a default judgment would just be a ministerial process.⁷ (R. pp. 11-18.) At Welch’s request, the circuit court appointed local South Carolina attorney Peter Protopapas to act as a receiver for around the twentieth time in an asbestos case. (R. pp. 11-18.)

By notice served and filed July 6, 2023, this appeal timely follows the circuit court’s denial of Atlas Turner’s timely motions for reconsideration. (R. pp. 4-6; R. pp. 19-24; R. pp. 1932-1938.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“[T]he appointment of a receiver is within the discretion of the circuit [court].” *Richland Cnty. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 422 S.C. 292, 313, 811 S.E.2d 758, 769 (2018) (first alteration in original) (quoting *Midlands Util., Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’tl. Control*, 301 S.C. 224, 228, 391 S.E.2d 535, 538 (1989)). However, “[t]he appointment of a receiver is a drastic remedy, and should be granted only with reluctance and caution.” *Id.* (quoting *Midlands Util., Inc.*, 301 S.C.

⁶ Later in the order it states it is striking “Atlas’ pleadings.” (R. p. 9.)

⁷ This belief and finding is an error of law. An entry of a default judgment is *not* a ministerial act. *Beckham v. Durant*, 300 S.C. 329, 387 S.E.2d 701 (Ct. App. 1989); *In re Estate of Weeks*, 329 S.C. 251, 495 S.E.2d 454 (Ct. App. 1987) (party requesting default judgment not entitled to one as a matter of right). Atlas Turner filed motions to reconsider, all of which the circuit court denied. (R. pp. 1746-1762; 1775-1784; R. pp. 4-6; 19-24).

at 228, 391 S.E.2d at 538). “[A] receiver will not be appointed during the progress of a cause, unless there is the strongest reason to believe that the plaintiff is entitled to the relief demanded in his complaint, and there is danger that the property will be materially injured before the case can be determined.” *Id.* (quoting *Pelzer v. Hughes*, 27 S.C. 408, 416, 3 S.E. 781, 785 (1887)).

Contempt is also a matter within the discretion of the circuit court. *Spartanburg County Dep’t of Soc. Servs. v. Padgett*, 296 S.C. 79, 83, 370 S.E.2d 872, 875 (1988). Contempt is a consequence of the willful disobedience of a court order. *See Henderson v. Henderson*, 298 S.C. 190, 197, 379 S.E.2d 125, 129 (1989). Civil contempt must be proved by clear and convincing evidence. *Durlach v. Durlach*, 359 S.C. 64, 71, 596 S.E.2d 908, 912 (2004) (citation omitted). A willful act is one “done voluntarily and intentionally with the specific intent . . . to fail to do something the law requires to be done” *Padgett*, 296 S.C. at 82–83, 370 S.E.2d at 874 (quoting Black’s Law Dictionary 1434 (5th ed.1979)). “Where a contemnor is unable, without fault on his part, to obey an order of the court, he is not to be held in contempt.” *Smith-Cooper v. Cooper*, 344 S.C. 289, 301, 543 S.E.2d 271, 277 (Ct. App. 2001) (citations omitted). A finding of contempt, therefore, must be reflected in a record that is “clear and specific as to the acts or conduct upon which such finding is based.” *Curlee v. Howle*, 277 S.C. 377, 382, 287 S.E.2d 915, 918 (1982).

Matters within the circuit court’s discretion are subject to reversal for abuse of discretion, and abuse of discretion occurs when the circuit court’s decision is controlled by an error of law or lacks evidentiary support. *Burke v. Republic Parking System, Inc.*, 421 S.C. 553, 558, 808 S.E.2d 626, 628 (Ct. App. 2017).

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court erred in appointing a receiver.

A. The circuit court lacks jurisdiction over property outside of South Carolina.

“The power of a receiver only extends to the boundaries of the territorial jurisdiction of the court appointing him.” *Pollock v. Carolina Interstate B. & L. Assn.*, 48 S.C. 65, 25 S.E. 977, 980 (1896) (quoting Gluck & B. Rec. p. 3). “[C]ourts of equity cannot acquire extraterritorial jurisdiction over property by appointing receivers.” *Id.* (quoting 20 Am. & Eng. Enc. Law, 65, 66).

“[T]he jurisdiction of a state is restricted to its own territorial limits.” *Ex parte First Pennsylvania Banking & Tr. Co.*, 247 S.C. 506, 508, 148 S.E.2d 373, 374 (1966). “[T]he general rule is that no state or nation can, by its laws, directly affect, bind, or operate upon property or persons beyond its territorial jurisdiction. A statute which purports to have such operation is invalid.” *Id.* “South Carolina rules of construction provide that statutes must not be read to operate outside the state’s borders.” *Carolina Trucks & Equip., Inc. v. Volvo Trucks of N. Am., Inc.*, 492 F.3d 484, 489 (4th Cir. 2007). “The South Carolina Supreme Court has written repeatedly that South Carolina statutes have no extraterritorial effect because the general rule is that no state or nation can, by its laws, directly affect, bind, or operate upon property or persons beyond its territorial jurisdiction.” *Id.* (cleaned up).

In *Pollock*, the South Carolina Supreme Court had to determine whether the North Carolina state court’s appointment of a temporary receiver for the defendant association rendered service in this state invalid. Our Supreme Court made an extensive review of the territorial power of receivers. It noted that the United States Supreme Court ruled that a receiver has “no extraterritorial power of official action; none which the court appointing him can confer, with authority to enable him to go into a foreign jurisdiction to take possession of the debtor’s property;

none which can give him, upon the principle of comity, a privilege to sue in a foreign court, or another jurisdiction.” *Pollock*, 48 S.C. 65, 25 S.E. at 980 (quoting *Booth v. Clark*, 58 U.S. 322, 338 (1854)) (emphasis added). Our Supreme Court also noted that in *Dial v. Gary*, “our court held that an administrator appointed by the courts of Massachusetts had no legal capacity to sue in this state, and that his assignment of the bond and mortgage to a citizen of this state did not give the latter capacity to sue.” *Id.* (citing *Dial*, 14 S. C. 573 (1881)). It concluded that “[t]his is supported by reason, and the jurisdiction and the power exercised by courts.” *Id.*⁸ Our Supreme Court elaborated that a “court deriving its power from the laws of North Carolina cannot confer any greater power than it is given. Having the right to appoint a receiver in their territory alone, such appointee is a creature of the appointing power, and cannot have greater power than his creator.” *Id.* “The stream cannot rise higher than its source.” *Id.*

Indeed, our receivership statute references these jurisdictional limits. It provides that the circuit court may appoint a receiver “[i]n such other cases as are provided by law or may be in accordance with the existing practice, *except as otherwise provided in this Code.*” § 15-65-10(5) (emphasis added). It limits a South Carolina receivership “in like cases[] of the property within the state of foreign corporations.” § 15-65-10(4). The reference to “like cases” regarding foreign corporations is a clear limitation on a receiver’s power. Therefore, our receivership statute only allows a South Carolina court to appoint a receiver over the assets of a foreign corporation that are found “within this state.”⁹

⁸ There appears to be a dearth of case law regarding receivers and their powers. The few cases located are not from this country. *See, e.g., In re Whittaker, Clark & Daniels*, 23-13575 MBK (B.C.D.N.J. 2023).

⁹ This is especially true when a South Carolina receiver attempts to take control over an active Canadian corporation like Atlas Turner. This differentiates this case from the other receivership cases decided by the circuit court that involved long defunct corporations which arguably met the requirements of § 15-65-10.

The circuit court's rulings ignore the concept of interstate and intrastate commerce reserved to the federal government, not the states. The circuit court has no authority or jurisdiction outside of South Carolina. Atlas Turner has no property in South Carolina. All assets which the purported receiver seeks are in Canada, not South Carolina. The circuit court and the receiver cannot take charge over any property outside of the state, let alone outside of the United States. Thus, the circuit court erred in appointing a receiver.

B. South Carolina's receivership statute is inapplicable to Atlas Turner.

It is unclear which specific statute the circuit court relied on in its order appointing a receiver. The circuit court specifically cited § 15-65-10(5) but also generically noted that "other elements of the receivership statute are satisfied." (R. p. 12; *id.* at n.3.) In reviewing the receivership statute, none of the conditions are met.

1. Section 15-65-10(5) is inapplicable to Atlas Turner.

Section 15-65-10(5) provides that the circuit court may appoint a receiver "[i]n such other cases as are provided by law or may be *in accordance with the existing practice*, except as otherwise provided in this Code." § 15-65-10(5) (emphasis added). There are no published cases in South Carolina in which the circuit court appointed a receiver for a foreign corporation's assets that were never in the state. On the other hand, there are cases in which appellate courts reversed such an appointment of a receiver. *See, e.g., Boynton v. Consol. Indem. & Ins. Co.*, 180 S.C. 279, 185 S.E. 731, 737 (1936) (reversing the appointment of a receiver over a foreign corporation because "there [wa]s a total failure of any proof that it ha[d] property in this state").

The circuit court erred in applying § 15-65-10(5) because it is not in accordance with existing practice to appoint a receiver over a foreign corporation's assets that are not in South

Carolina. The lack of authority speaks for itself: It is not in accordance with existing practice to appoint a receiver for a foreign corporation's assets that are not in South Carolina.¹⁰

As discussed above, a receiver appointed in another jurisdiction has “no extraterritorial power of official action; none which the court appointing him can confer, with authority to enable him to go into a foreign jurisdiction to take possession of the debtor's property; none which can give him, upon the principle of comity, a privilege to sue in a foreign court, or another jurisdiction.” *Pollock*, 48 S.C. 65, 25 S.E. at 980 (quoting *Booth*, 58 U.S. at 338). “Receivers appointed before jurisdiction are not entitled, as of right, to recognition in other jurisdictions, and courts of equity cannot acquire extraterritorial jurisdiction over property by appointing receivers.” *Id.* (quoting 20 Am. & Eng. Enc. Law, 65, 66). “The power of a receiver only extends to the boundaries of the territorial jurisdiction of the court appointing him.” *Id.* (quoting Gluck & B. Rec. p. 3). Accordingly, the circuit court erred in applying § 15-65-10(5).

2. Section 15-65-10(4) is inapplicable to Atlas Turner.

Section 15-65-10(4) provides that the circuit court may appoint a receiver “[w]hen a corporation has been dissolved, is insolvent or in imminent danger of insolvency or has forfeited its corporate rights, and, *in like cases, of the property within this State of foreign corporations.*” § 15-65-10(4) (emphasis added). The circuit court stated that the statute's reference to “property within this state” is not a limitation on the Receiver's authority in this case.” (R. p. 14.) The circuit court reasoned that Atlas Turner's “insuring assets are subject to the laws of South Carolina, including the duly appointed Receiver” under § 38-61-10, which provides the following:

¹⁰ The circuit court cites *First Carolinas Joint Stock Land Bank of Columbia v. Knotts*, 191 S.C. 384, 1 S.E.2d 797, 800 (1939), and *Virginia-Carolina Chemical v. Hunter*, 84 S.C. 214, 66 S.E. 177, 177 (1909), for examples of existing practice. (R. p. 13.) Those cases are not applicable here, because they involved real property in South Carolina. See *First Carolinas*, 191 S.C. at 1, S.E.2d at 800; *Virginia-Carolina*, 84 S.C. at 66 S.E. at 177.

All contracts of insurance on property, lives, or interests in this State are considered to be made in the State and all contracts of insurance the applications for which are taken within the State are considered to have been made within this State and are subject to the laws of this State.

In *Sangamo Weston, Inc. v. Nat'l Sur. Corp.*, the defendant operated a facility located in South Carolina and allegedly discharged a hazardous substance into the surrounding area. 307 S.C. 143, 146, 414 S.E.2d 127, 129 (1992). The South Carolina Supreme Court interpreted § 38-61-10 and determined that “South Carolina substantive law govern[ed] the dispute” even though the insurance contracts were executed outside of South Carolina and between parties that were not citizens of South Carolina. *Id.* at 149, 414 S.E.2d at 130. There, however, the dispute revolved around whether South Carolina or another jurisdiction’s law would apply. Indeed, our Supreme Court ruled that when § 38-61-10 applies “it governs as South Carolina’s *rule of conflicts*.” *Id.* at 147, 414 S.E.2d at 130 (emphasis added).

Additionally, courts have refused to apply § 38-61-10 in the conflicts of law context unless a sufficient nexus to South Carolina existed. *See, e.g., Russell v. McGrath*, 135 F. Supp. 3d 427, 431 (D.S.C. 2015) (“[Section] 38-61-10 does not automatically supplant the traditional doctrine of *lex loci contractus* in every case. Indeed, courts have often held that § 38-61-10 is inapplicable, noting ‘a lack of connection, interest or nexus to South Carolina,’ such that it could not be said that the ‘property, lives, or interests’ insured were located in South Carolina.”) (internal citation omitted); *Unisun Ins. Co. v. Hertz Rental Corp.*, 312 S.C. 549, 552 n.1, 436 S.E.2d 182, 184 n.1 (Ct. App. 1993) (noting that application of § 38-61-10 would also result in the application of New York law because “at the time the contract was made, the property and interests insured were in the State of New York”).

To the extent the circuit court applied § 15-65-10(4), it erred because Atlas Turner is an active Canadian corporation that has not been dissolved. There is zero evidence of insolvency or of any imminent danger thereof. Atlas Turner has not forfeited any corporate rights. More importantly, Atlas Turner is a foreign corporation that has no property in South Carolina. Unlike the corporation in *Sangamo*, Atlas Turner has never had any assets in South Carolina.

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