RECEIVED

Jan 16 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County
Court of Common Pleas
Jean Hoefer Toal, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001096
Case No. 2022-CP-40-03834

Donna B. Welch, individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Melvin G. Welch, deceased, Respondent

v.

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

1. citing to materials outside the record,

2. falsely accusing South Carolina courts of “hostility to defendants in asbestos cases,”
3. making untrue and unsupported assertions that South Carolina courts have forced other defendants into a position in which they had “no choice but to settle for inflated value. . .” and,
4. suggesting South Carolina is a “judicial hellhole” in violation of the “Lawyer’s Oath” and the South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct.

As an initial matter, Atlas Turner cites to a website that was not designated as evidence to the trial court, and which is not in the record of appeal. Under South Carolina’s appellate rules, arguments must be supported “with reference to the record on appeal,” App. R. 208(E). “The Record shall not . . . include matter which was not presented to the lower court or tribunal.” App. R. 210(c). South Carolina appellate courts “are confined to the record in deciding issues on appeal.” *Timms v. Timms*, 286 S.C. 291, 333 S.E.2d 74 (1985). As such, Atlas Turner’s efforts to submit new “evidence” to this Court in the form of the Judicial Hellholes website is inappropriate.

Further, Atlas Turner makes the unsupported, untrue, and unproveable claims that South Carolina courts show “hostility to defendants in asbestos cases,”¹⁰ and have left other asbestos defendants “no choice but to settle for inflated value . . .” Once again, these assertions are unsupported by any evidence in the record.¹¹

Finally, Atlas Turner’s characterization of South Carolina as a “judicial hellhole,” is a violation of South Carolina’s attorney rules for civility. South Carolina lawyers “must act in a dignified and professional manner, with proper respect for the parties, witnesses, opposing counsel,

¹⁰ The Judicial Hellholes 2023 entry for South Carolina complains at length about sanctions imposed on Cleaver Brooks in another asbestos matter. To the extent this Court gives such arguments any consideration, it should take judicial notice that, 1) the South Carolina Court of Appeals upheld those sanctions, *Howe v. Air & Liquid Systems Corp.*, 2021 WL 5626487 (S.C. Ct. App. 2021), *rehearing denied*, and 2) Cleaver Brooks voluntarily dismissed its appeal while it was pending before the Supreme Court. See June 22, 2023, Supreme Court Order dismissing appeal, Appellate Case No. 2022-000368.

¹¹ Given that settlement agreements typically include confidentiality provisions, it is unclear how Atlas Turner could have any information about settlements with other parties absent a breach of confidentiality by settling defendants.

and for the Court. When a lawyer fails to conduct himself appropriately, he brings into question the integrity of the judicial system, and, as well, disservices his client.” *In re Goude*, 296 S.C. 510, 512, 374 S.E.2d 495, 497 (1988).

Rule 402(h)(3) SCACR establishes the requirements for the admission to practice law in South Carolina and contains the “Lawyer’s Oath.” This oath includes the clause, “I will maintain the respect and courtesy due to courts of justice, judicial officers, and those who assist them.”

Atlas Turner’s appellate briefing violates this oath. “It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to ... engage in conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of justice.” S.C. R. Prof. Conduct. 8.4(d). The South Carolina Supreme Court has taken a dim view of attorneys disparaging South Carolina’s legal system, noting attorneys are subject to discipline for “engaging in conduct tending to pollute the administration of justice or to bring the courts or the legal profession into disrepute. . . .” *In re Anonymous Member of the South Carolina Bar*, 392 S.C. 328, 334, 709 S.E.2d 633, 636 (2011).

The interests protected by the civility oath are the administration of justice and integrity of the lawyer-client relationship. The State has an interest in ensuring a system of regulation. . . Such conduct not only compromises the integrity of the judicial process, it also undermines a lawyer’s ability to objectively represent his or her client.

We caution the bar that henceforth, this type of conduct could result in a public sanction.”

Id., 392 S.C. at 337-38, 709 S.E.2d at 638.

Atlas Turner’s initial refusal to recognize South Carolina courts’ authority over it provided sufficient basis for the trial court to sanction it. Atlas Turner now doubles down, not only refusing to recognize South Carolina’s jurisdiction, but citing a website whose sole purpose is to disparage the judicial system, explicitly including South Carolina courts. Atlas Turner’s assertions are

unsupported, untrue, inappropriate, a violation of the rules of professionalism, and should not be considered or condoned by this Court.

V. Atlas Turner’s attempt to “reserve” its personal jurisdiction defense is ineffective.

Although only addressed in conclusory fashion in its brief, Atlas Turner’s objection to the trial court’s exercise of personal jurisdiction over it served as the catalyst for each of the rulings that Atlas Turner now appeals. The determination of whether a court may exercise personal jurisdiction over a nonresident defendant involves a two-step analysis. *Hammond v. Butler, Means, Evins & Brown*, 300 S.C. 458, 462, 388 S.E.2d 796, 798 (1990). The nonresident defendant’s conduct must meet the requirements of South Carolina’s long-arm statute and the exercise of jurisdiction must comport with the requirements of the Due Process Clause. *Id.*; *Moosally v. W.W. Norton Co. Inc.*, 358 S.C. 320, 328, 594 S.E.2d 878, 882 (S.C. Ct. App. 2004). The South Carolina long-arm “affords broad power to exercise personal jurisdiction over causes of action arising from tortious injuries in South Carolina, has been construed to extend to the outer limits of the due process clause.” *Moosally*, 358 S.C. at 329, 594 S.E.2d at 883. The trial court found that the court could properly exercise specific jurisdiction over Atlas Turner.

Specific jurisdiction may be exercised when the defendant purposefully directs his activities at residents of the forum and the litigation results from alleged injuries that ““arise out of or relate to”” those activities. *Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz*, 471 U.S. 462, 472 (1985) (quoting *Helicopteros Nacionales de Columbia S.A. v. Hall*, 466 U.S. 408, 414 (1984)). The requirement that a defendant purposely direct conduct at the forum state ensures that the defendant’s connection with the forum state is sufficient to cause the defendant to “reasonably anticipate being haled into court there.” *World-Wide Volkswagen Corp. v. Woodson*, 444 U.S. 286, 297 (1980).

In this Circuit, sales of asbestos products in the forum state have been found sufficient to confer personal jurisdiction over the defendant manufacturer. *See, e.g., Lineberger v. CBS Corp.*, No. 1:16CV390, 2017 WL 3883712, at *1 (W.D.N.C. Aug. 14, 2017), *report and recommendation adopted*, No. 1:16-CV-00390-MR-DLH, 2017 WL 3879092 (W.D.N.C. Sept. 5, 2017) (allegations that the defendant sold asbestos products in North Carolina and the plaintiff was exposed to those products while working in North Carolina were sufficient to state a prima facie case of specific personal jurisdiction).

Recently, in *Ford Motor Co. v. Montana Eighth Judicial District Court*, ---U.S.---, 141 S. Ct. 1017 (2021), the Supreme Court held that a plaintiff need not show a strict causal connection between his claims and the defendant’s forum-state product sales as long as there is a relationship between the defendant, the forum, and the litigation. *Ford Motor Co.* involved two separate cases against Ford brought by plaintiffs who were injured in their home states in car accidents involving Ford vehicles. 141 S. Ct. at 1022. In both cases, the plaintiffs had purchased used Ford cars that were manufactured outside the forum and originally sold outside the forum. *Id.* at 1022-23.¹² The Supreme Court succinctly summarized the facts: “The accident happened in the State where suit was brought. The victim was one of the State’s residents. And Ford did substantial business in the State—among other things, advertising, selling, and servicing the model of vehicle the suit claims is defective.” *Id.* at 1022.

Ford resisted personal jurisdiction on the grounds that in each case the car had not been originally sold in the forum state. *Id.* at 1023. It argued that there must be a causal link between its

¹² A Montana resident was killed in Montana when the tread separated on the tire of her Ford Explorer and her vehicle spun out and rolled into a ditch. *Id.* at 1023. Her family brought suit against Ford in Montana. A Minnesota resident was a passenger in his friend’s Ford Crown Victoria and suffered serious brain injuries in an accident in rural Minnesota when the air bag failed to deploy. *Id.* He brought suit against Ford in Minnesota.

activity in the forum state and the suit, which would only exist “if the company had designed, manufactured, or—most likely—sold in the State the particular vehicle involved in the accident.”

Id. The plaintiffs could not make that showing. Not only were the cars designed and manufactured out of state, but they had also originally been sold in other states and brought into the forum states as used vehicles. *Id.*

Nevertheless, the high courts of Montana and Minnesota rebuffed Ford’s motions to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction. *Id.* They both found that because Ford had purposefully sought to serve the market in their states, selling the exact models of cars involved in the accidents, Ford’s relationship with the plaintiffs’ respective claims was sufficient to confer jurisdiction. *Id.* at 1023-24.

The United States Supreme Court agreed. It held that “[w]hen a company like Ford serves a market for a product in a State and that product causes injury in the State to one of its residents, the State’s courts may entertain the resulting suit.” *Id.* at 1022. Even though the exact vehicles involved in the accidents were not sold in the forum states, “the connection between the plaintiffs’ claims and Ford’s activities in those States—or otherwise said, the ‘relationship among the defendant, the forum[s], and the litigation’—is close enough to support specific jurisdiction.” *Id.* at 1032 (quoting *Walden v. Fiore*, 571 U.S. 277, 284 (2014)). There was no dispute that Ford conducts substantial business activity in Montana and Minnesota and actively serves the car market in those states. *Id.* at 1026. “Ford agrees that it has ‘purposefully avail[ed] itself of the privilege of conducting activities’ in both places.” *Id.* (quoting *Hanson v. Denckla*, 357 U.S. 235, 78 S.Ct. 1228, 2 L.Ed.2d 1283 (1958)). The Court also found that the plaintiffs’ suits had the requisite connection to Ford’s business activities in the forum States, rejecting Ford’s contention that there must be a direct causal link between its business activities and the suit. *Id.* It did not matter that

the specific vehicles involved in the accidents were not sold in the forum States given that there was an undeniable relationship between Ford's activity in serving the car market in those states, even selling the same models involved in the accidents, and the plaintiffs' lawsuits. *Id.*

Because "Ford had systematically served a market in Montana and Minnesota for the very vehicles that the plaintiffs allege malfunctioned and injured them in those States . . . there is a strong 'relationship among the defendant, the forum, and the litigation'—the 'essential foundation' of specific jurisdiction." *Id.* at 1028 (quoting *Helicopteros Nacionales de Colombia, S.A. v. Hall*, 466 U.S. 408, 414 (1984)).

The Supreme Court noted that its holding is in keeping with a long line of precedent that has recognized specific personal jurisdiction in precisely such factual circumstances. *Id.* at 1027-28. Most notably, in *World-Wide Volkswagen* the Court held that Oklahoma did not have jurisdiction over a New York car dealer that sold the car causing injury in Oklahoma, but that it *did* have jurisdiction over the car's manufacturer (Audi) and the car's nationwide importer (Volkswagen). *Id.* at 1027 (citing *World-Wide Volkswagen Corp. v. Woodson*, 444 U.S. 286, 297 (1980)). "Or said another way, if Audi and Volkswagen's business deliberately extended into Oklahoma (among other States), then Oklahoma's courts could hold the companies accountable for a car's catching fire there—even though the vehicle had been designed and made overseas and sold in New York." *Id.* This holding has been cited by the Court numerous times, including in *Daimler AG v. Bauman*, 571 U.S. 117, 127 n.5 (2014), where the Court "used the Audi/Volkswagen scenario as a paradigm case of specific jurisdiction." *Id.* at 1027-28.

The trial court determined that the exercise of personal jurisdiction over Atlas Turner was proper under *Ford Motor Co.* and longstanding specific jurisdiction principles. As were the plaintiffs in *Ford Motor Co.*, Melvin Welch was a resident of the forum state—here, South

Carolina. He was injured in South Carolina when exposed to asbestos-containing products and materials supplied by the Atlas entities at industrial facilities in South Carolina. And the Atlas entities conducted sales of asbestos-containing products and materials to the very industrial locations where Melvin Welch worked. Mrs. Welch's claims against Atlas Turner arose from Atlas Turner's substantial sales activity in South Carolina. As mentioned above, Mrs. Welch presented the trial court with evidence that Atlas Turner sold asbestos-containing products to various companies operating in South Carolina and shipped asbestos-containing products directly into South Carolina. Given this evidence, the trial court properly denied Atlas Turner's personal jurisdiction challenge.

Atlas Turner made no effort to seek reconsideration of that ruling or appeal that ruling to this Court. However, even in its brief to this Court, Atlas Turner continues to "reserve" this meritless (and already denied) defense. Atlas Turner's attempt at reserving its objection to the trial court's exercise of personal jurisdiction over it, especially when Atlas Turner has failed to properly preserve and raise the issue on appeal, is improper. As noted by this Court, "an issue is deemed abandoned on appeal and, therefore, not presented for review, if it is argued in a short, conclusory statement without supporting authority." *Fields v. Melrose Ltd. P'ship*, 312 S.C. 102, 106 n.3, 439 S.E.2d 283, 285 n.3 (Ct. App. 1993). Atlas Turner has abandoned its jurisdictional challenge as it offers no argument or authority to support its position that it can properly continue to maintain a defense that has been rejected and has not included its jurisdictional challenge as an issue on appeal.

Additionally, Atlas Turner has waived its challenge to the trial court's exercise of personal jurisdiction over it because it sought affirmative relief from the trial court regarding the merits of this case. As noted above, Atlas Turner requested summary dismissal of the Welches' claims

against it based on an alleged absence of evidence demonstrating that Melvin Welch was exposed to asbestos or asbestos-containing products attributable to Atlas Turner. This Court has recognized that the defense of lack of jurisdiction can be waived by seeking affirmative relief which includes arguing the merits of the case as it is inconsistent with its position that the trial court lacks the authority to adjudicate the Welches claims against Atlas Turner. See *Wellin v. Wellin*, 427 S.C. 15, 24-25, 828 S.E.2d 767, 772 (Ct. App. 2019); *Ex parte Cannon*, 385 S.C. 643, 660, 685 S.E.2d 814, 823 (Ct. App. 2009). It is disingenuous, and confusing, then for Atlas Turner to continue to “reserve” an unmeritorious and waived defense. Atlas Turner has failed to even attempt to explain how or when it would appeal the denial of its jurisdictional challenge, especially given that the denial of said challenge goes hand in hand with the issues raised in its current appeal.

Because Atlas Turner has waived and/or abandoned its challenge to the trial court’s exercise of jurisdiction over it and has failed to raise that issue in the instant appeal, this Court need not give any consideration to Atlas Turner’s attempt to “reserve” its defense of a lack of personal jurisdiction, except, if necessary, to declare that defense waived and/or abandoned.

CONCLUSION

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in holding Atlas Turner in contempt, striking its Answer, or in appointing a receiver over its insurance assets. For these reasons, Appellee Donna Welch respectfully requests this Court affirm the trial court’s orders striking Atlas Turner’s Answer and appointing a receiver for Atlas Turner’s insurance assets.